FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
3/12/2020 8:00 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/12/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

98269-4

Supreme Court No. (to be set)
Court of Appeals No. 51732-9-II
IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, vs.

Kenneth Kyllo

Appellant/Petitioner

Cowlitz County Superior Court Cause No. 17-1-00506-9 The Honorable Judge Michael H. Evans

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Manek R. Mistry Jodi R. Backlund Attorneys for Appellant/Petitioner

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

An informant claimed to have seen heroin in a Cowlitz County hotel room "within the last 72 hours." Without explanation, the informant claimed the drugs belonged to Kenneth Kyllo. Officers did not try to discover who had rented the hotel room or if that person remained a registered guest 72 hours after the informant's visit or if Mr. Kyllo had any connection with that room. Instead, police obtained a warrant and forcibly entered. Because the search warrant was not based on probable cause, evidence obtained by the police should not have been admitted.

Over objection, the court allowed multiple witnesses to tell jurors that the warrant specifically targeted Mr. Kyllo and his alleged drug involvement, implying that additional evidence, not admitted at trial, supported a guilty verdict. In closing, the prosecutor emphasized that official suspicion focused on Mr. Kyllo, to counter Mr. Kyllo's assertion that the drugs were not his. The court's ruling violated ER 403 and infringed Mr. Kyllo's right to due process, because it allowed jurors to convict based on "official suspicion" rather than evidence admitted at trial.

Despite the State's burden to prove Mr. Kyllo's mental state, defense counsel proposed an unwitting possession instruction placing the burden on Mr. Kyllo to prove his own lack of knowledge. This denied Mr. Kyllo his right to the effective assistance of counsel.

DECISION BELOW AND ISSUES PRESENTED

Petitioner Kenneth Kyllo, the appellant in the court below, asks the Court to review the Court of Appeals unpublished opinion entered on

February 11, 2020. This case presents four issues:

- 1. Was Mr. Kyllo denied his Sixth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel when his attorney proposed an instruction shifting the burden of proof?
- 2. Did the trial court violate ER 403 and Mr. Kyllo's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process by admitting evidence that he was named as the target of a search warrant?
- 3. Was the search warrant unsupported by probable cause and unconstitutionally overbroad, in violation of the Fourth Amendment and Wash. Const. art. I, §7?
- 4. Was Mr. Kyllo denied his Sixth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel when his attorney failed to seek suppression of prejudicial evidence?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In April of 2017, police sought a search warrant for a hotel room. CP 1-7. They relied on a confidential informant, who claimed to have seen heroin in the hotel room "within the last 72 hours." CP 6. The informant did not claim to have seen Kenneth Kyllo in the hotel room but asserted that the heroin "belonged" to Mr. Kyllo. CP 6. No further information was provided about this conclusion. CP 1-7.

The police requested authorization to search for heroin and Mr. Kyllo in the hotel room. CP 6-7. The court authorized a warrant. CP 8-11.

When officers arrived at the room, they found Thomas Wiggins² seated at a table. RP (2/15/18) 101-102. On the table was a needle, and a bag containing heroin and methamphetamine. RP (2/15/18) 101-102, 137-

¹ A copy of the opinion is attached.

 $^{^2}$ Although police did not know it at the time, the hotel room was rented by Wiggins. RP (2/16/18) 9, 81.

142. Also on the table were two wallets: one belonging to Wiggins and the other belonging to Mr. Kyllo. RP (2/15/18) 104-105. There was also a paper listing debts and payments. RP (2/15/18) 104, 120-122. Another pay/owe sheet was in Wiggins's wallet. RP (2/15/18) 122.

Nichole Williams stood between the two beds. RP (2/15/18) 94, 208; RP (2/16/18) 16-18. On the nightstand near her were needles and heroin. RP (2/15/18) 96-97. A drawer contained more heroin and packaging materials. RP (2/15/18) 99-100.

Mr. Kyllo was also in the room. RP (2/15/18) 94. He threw a backpack out the window as police entered. RP (2/15/18) 94, 185. The pack contained a scale, packaging, \$4800, and heroin. RP (2/15/15) 193-201. It also contained prescription pill bottles with Wiggins's name on them.³ RP (2/15/18) 205-212.

The State charged Mr. Kyllo with possession of methamphetamine and heroin with intent to deliver. CP 17-18. The confidential informant did not testify at trial. RP (2/15/18) 81-212; RP (2/16/18) 16-46. Nor did Wiggins or Williams. RP (2/15/18) 81-212; RP (2/16/18) 16-46.

Mr. Kyllo told jurors that he was in the hotel room as a guest. RP (2/16/18) 81. He testified that Wiggins told him to toss the backpack out the window as the police entered. RP (2/16/18) 81-82, 86.

Defense counsel moved to exclude testimony that Mr. Kyllo was the target of the search warrant. RP (2/15/18) 61-63. Without balancing prejudice and probative value, the court denied the motion. RP (2/15/18)

³ One item in the backpack had Williams's print on it. RP (2/16/18) 44, 48; RP (4/2/18) 100.

63. The first four witnesses were law enforcement who all testified that they had a search warrant for methamphetamine, heroin, and for Mr. Kyllo. RP (2/15/18) 90, 123-133, 163, 174-184. One claimed that police "knew" that Mr. Kyllo and drugs were in the hotel room.⁴ RP (2/15/18) 163. When Mr. Kyllo testified, the prosecutor ended his cross examination on this same theme:

Q: ...Were you surprised to find out that the police were looking for you at that hotel room at that exact time? A: Yes.

Q: And you must've been really surprised to find to find out they were looking for drugs as they were looking for you at that hotel room?

A: Well, yeah. There happened to be drugs there. RP (2/16/18) 92.

In closing, the prosecutor was quick to remind the jury that the officers, armed with a search warrant, "went to room 203 of that hotel looking for two specific things: drugs and the Defendant, Ken Kyllo." RP (2/16/18) 111. The State returned to the theme in rebuttal as well:

[W]ho were the police looking for...at that hotel room? Were they looking for Thomas Wiggins? Were they looking for Nicole Williams? No. They were looking for Kenneth Kyllo. RP (2/16/18) 144.

Defense counsel proposed an instruction on the affirmative defense of unwitting possession. RP (2/16/18) 95-96; CP 21, 39. The instruction placed the burden on Mr. Kyllo to prove the defense by a preponderance of the evidence. CP 39. In closing, defense counsel highlighted the burden imposed by this instruction:

⁴ On the morning of the second day of trial, Mr. Kyllo expressed his frustration that no one was telling the jury that Wiggins had admitted the pack was his. RP (2/16/18) 6-10.

[I]f you believe my client possessed it then there is a defense, if proven, that... the possession was unwitting. If we haven't met that burden, they still have to prove that the possession was done with a specific intent to deliver.

RP (2/16/18) 127.

The jury convicted Mr. Kyllo as charged. RP (2/16/18) 151-154. Mr. Kyllo was sentenced to 108 months in prison. RP (4/2/18) 105; CP 47-57. He timely appealed. CP 167. In a split decision, the Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions. Mr. Kyllo seeks review of that decision.

ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

I. THE APPELLATE COURT'S OPINION REGARDING THE LEGITIMACY OF COUNSEL'S TRIAL STRATEGY CONFLICTS WITH *CARTER* AND RAISES A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS. RAP 13.4(B)(2) AND (3).

An accused person is entitled to the effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. Amend. VI; U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, §22; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). Where the State bears the burden of proving a culpable mental state, defense counsel provides ineffective assistance by proposing an unwitting possession instruction. *State v. Carter*, 127 Wn.App. 713, 717-718, 112 P.3d 561 (2005).

Proposing such an instruction is "not a legitimate trial tactic." *Id.;* see also State v. Newton, 179 Wn.App. 1056 at p. 4 (2014) (unpublished); State v. Sims, 119 Wn.2d 138, 142, 829 P.2d 1075 (1992). In Carter and Newton, each defendant was charged with a possessory offense requiring the State to prove a culpable mental state. Each defendant's attorney proposed an unwitting possession instruction. The appellate courts

reversed each defendant's conviction. *Carter*, 127 Wn.App. at 718; *Newton*, 179 Wn.App. 1056 at p. 4 (unpublished).

As the Supreme Court has noted, unwitting possession cannot apply when the State must prove intent to deliver because "[i]t is impossible for a person to intend to...deliver a controlled substance without knowing what he or she is doing." *Sims*, 119 Wash.2d at 142. A person who intends to deliver a controlled substance "necessarily knows what controlled substance [he or she] possesses [since] one who acts intentionally acts knowingly." *Sims*, 119 Wn.2d at 142.

Thus "[w]ithout knowledge of the controlled substance, one could not intend to... deliver that controlled substance." *Id.* The State's burden to prove intent thus encompasses the burden to prove knowledge. A person accused of possession with intent has no burden to prove unwitting possession. *Id.; Carter*, 127 Wn.App. at 718; *Newton*, 179 Wn.App. 1056 at p. 4 (unpublished); *see also* Dissent, pp. 21-22.

Here, as in *Carter* and *Newton*, Mr. Kyllo was charged with a possessory offense requiring proof of a culpable mental state. CP 17-18. In proposing an unwitting possession instruction, counsel's performance was deficient. *Carter*, 127 Wn.App. at 718; *see also Newton*, 179 Wn.App. 1056 at p. 4 (unpublished); CP 21, 39; RP (2/16/18) 95-96. The State "concede[d] that defense counsel rendered deficient performance by proposing an unwitting possession jury instruction." Majority, p. 6. The error prejudiced Mr. Kyllo. As in *Carter*, "the flawed instruction proffered

by defense counsel created an inconsistency in the stated burdens of proof." *Carter*, 127 Wn.App. at 718.

Defense counsel compounded the problem by highlighting the inconsistent burdens in closing:

[I]f you believe my client possessed it then there is a defense, if proven, that... the possession was unwitting. *If we haven't met that burden*, they still have to prove that the possession was done with a specific intent to deliver.

RP (2/16/18) 127 (emphasis added).

In fact, the State bore the entire burden as to Mr. Kyllo's mental state. *Sims*, 119 Wash.2d at 142; *Carter*, 127 Wn.App. at 718. As the dissent points out, "[t]he unwitting possession instruction... misled the jury to believe Kyllo had the burden to prove his mental state." Dissent, pp. 21. This "conflicted with the State's burden to prove the requisite mental state beyond a reasonable doubt." Dissent, pp. 21-22.

Because the inconsistency "result[ed] from a clear misstatement of the law, the misstatement is presumed to have misled the jury in a manner prejudicial to the defendant." *Carter*, 127 Wn.App. at 718; *see also*Dissent, p. 22. Mr. Kyllo was deprived of his Sixth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel, his convictions must be reversed. *Carter*, 127 Wn.App. at 718; *see also Newton*, 179 Wn.App. 1056 at p. 4 (unpublished). Defense counsel's performance was objectively unreasonable; it was "not a legitimate trial tactic." *Carter*, 127 Wn.App. at 717; *Newton*, 179 Wn.App. at p. 4 (unpublished).

As the dissent points out, the erroneous instruction "was not

necessary to argue Kyllo's theory of the case." Dissent, p. 22. Instead of improperly assuming the burden of proof, defense counsel should have "argue[d] that the State has failed to prove possession with the requisite intent *because* the defendant did not know that the controlled substance was in [his] possession." Dissent, p. 22 (emphasis in original).

However, without explanation, the Court of Appeals concluded that counsel's choice to request the instruction was "a legitimate tactical decision." Majority, p. 7. This is directly contrary to the *Carter* court's determination that such conduct is "not a legitimate trial tactic." *Carter*, 127 Wn.App. at 717.

The Supreme Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals' decision in this case conflicts with *Carter*. RAP 13.4(b)(2). In addition, the case raises a significant question under the state and federal constitutions: whether unnecessarily assuming the burden of proof can ever be a reasonable trial tactic. The Supreme Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

II. THE APPELLATE COURT'S OPINION UPHOLDING THE ADMISSION OF EVIDENCE OF "OFFICIAL SUSPICION" CONFLICTS WITH TAYLOR AND PRESENTS A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION UNDER THE FEDERAL CONSTITUTION. RAP 13.4(B)(1) AND (3).

An accused person "is entitled to have his guilt or innocence determined solely on the basis of the evidence introduced at trial, and not on grounds of official suspicion...or other circumstances not adduced as proof at trial." *Taylor v. Kentucky*, 436 U.S. 478, 485, 98 S. Ct. 1930, 56 L. Ed. 2d 468 (1978). This principle stems from the due process right to a

fair trial. *Id.*; U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; see Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 503, 96 S. Ct. 1691, 48 L. Ed. 2d 126 (1976).

Furthermore, evidence must be excluded if "its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice." ER 403.

Here, defense counsel objected to evidence that the search warrant specifically targeted Mr. Kyllo and his alleged drug activity. RP (2/15/18) 61-62. The evidence should have been excluded: its probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. ER 403. The evidence further allowed jurors to convict based in part "on grounds of official suspicion...or other circumstances not adduced as proof at trial." *Taylor*, 436 U.S. at 485. Its admission violated Mr. Kyllo's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process. *Id*.

Mr. Kyllo agreed that the warrant's existence "explain[ed] why law enforcement was there knocking on the door and entering." RP (2/15/18) 61. However, there was no reason to tell jurors that police had judicial authorization to search for Mr. Kyllo specifically. This evidence suggested that he was the focus of "official suspicion." *Id.* It also implied the existence of "other circumstances not adduced as proof at trial"—the circumstances leading to issuance of the warrant. *Id.* The evidence had no probative value and posed a substantial risk of unfair prejudice. The trial court should have sustained the objection.

⁵The State did not introduce any evidence regarding the informant's observations or any investigation that preceded issuance of the search warrant. RP (2/15/18) 81-212; RP (2/16/18) 16-46.

The Court of Appeals concluded that the evidence "was relevant to show the reasons for the police presence." Majority, p. 13. Trial counsel agreed that the State could use the *existence* of the warrant for this purpose. RP (2/15/18) 61. However, Mr. Kyllo's name was not necessary to show why police came to the hotel room.

Furthermore, the State used the evidence as substantive proof of Mr. Kyllo's guilt. The prosecutor repeatedly emphasized the fact that Mr. Kyllo was the target of the warrant. This occurred during direct examination of four officers and in cross examination of Mr. Kyllo RP (2/15/18) 90, 160-163, 182-184; RP (2/16/18) 92. The prosecutor also highlighted the evidence as substantive proof of Mr. Kyllo's guilt during closing. RP (2/16/18) 111, 144.

The trial court's admission of evidence that the warrant specifically named Mr. Kyllo violated ER 403 and Mr. Kyllo's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process. The evidence allowed jurors to convict based on "official suspicion" and on "other circumstances not adduced as proof at trial." *Id*.

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Taylor*, and this case raises a significant constitutional issue: whether the introduction of irrelevant evidence of "official suspicion"—such as a search warrant targeting the accused person—violates the accused person's right to due process. The Supreme Court should accept review and reverse. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3).

III. THE UNLAWFUL SEARCH RAISES SIGNIFICANT QUESTIONS UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS; THE ISSUES ARE ALSO OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST AND SHOULD BE DETERMINED BY THE SUPREME COURT. RAP 13.4(B)(3) AND (4).

Police obtained a warrant based only on an informant's claim that s/he had seen heroin in a hotel room "within the last 72 hours." CP 6. The officers did not investigate to determine who had rented the hotel room. CP 6. Nor did they inquire to see if the registered guest remained at the hotel three days after the informant's visit. CP 6.

Furthermore, the warrant affidavit did not provide any basis for the informant's assertion that the drugs belonged to Mr. Kyllo. CP 6. Police did not confirm that Mr. Kyllo was a guest at the hotel or that he had any connection to the registered guest who occupied the room three days before the warrant issued. The warrant was not supported by probable cause, and it was overbroad.

A. The state and federal constitutions require that search warrants be supported by probable cause.

Under both the state and federal constitutions, search warrants must be based on probable cause. State v. Lyons, 174 Wn.2d 354, 359, 275 P.3d 314 (2012); Carpenter v. United States, --- U.S. ---, ____, 138 S. Ct. 2206, 201 L. Ed. 2d 507 (2018); U.S. Const. Amend. IV; Wash. Const. art I, §7. To establish probable cause, the warrant application "must set forth sufficient facts to convince a reasonable person of the probability the

⁶ The State constitution provides stronger protection to individual privacy rights than does the Fourth Amendment**Error! Bookmark not defined.** *State v. Meneese*, 174 Wn.2d 937, 946, 282 P.3d 83 (2012).

defendant is engaged in criminal activity and that evidence of criminal activity can be found at the place to be searched." *Id*.

An affidavit in support of a search warrant "must state the underlying facts and circumstances on which it is based in order to facilitate a detached and independent evaluation of the evidence by the issuing magistrate." *State v. Thein*, 138 Wn.2d 133, 140, 977 P.2d 582 (1999). By itself, an inference drawn from the facts "does not provide a substantial basis for determining probable cause." *Lyons*, 174 Wn.2d at 363-64.

Similarly, generalizations about the habits of drug dealers or other criminals cannot provide the individualized suspicion required to justify the issuance of a search warrant. *Thein*, 138 Wn.2d at 147-148. The constitution requires more. *Id.; see also State v. Keodara*, 191 Wn.App. 305, 315-316, 364 P.3d 777 (2015), *review denied*, 185 Wn.2d 1028, 377 P.3d 718 (2016).

B. The affidavit did not establish probable cause.

The informant claimed to have seen "a large amount of heroin on a table" in a hotel room "within the last 72 hours." CP 6. Without explaining the basis for the claim, or even asserting that Mr. Kyllo himself was ever in the room, the informant declared the heroin belonged to Mr. Kyllo. CP 6. The police did not try to determine who rented the hotel room and did not investigate to see if Mr. Kyllo had any connection to the room. CP 6.

This information did not provide probable cause to search the hotel room three days later for two reasons. First, given the transience of hotel

guests, the information was stale. Second, the affidavit did not establish the informant's basis of knowledge for claiming the drugs belonged to Mr. Kyllo or that Mr. Kyllo could be found in the hotel room.

Staleness. Before issuing a warrant, a magistrate must determine if the information provided in support of the warrant application is stale. *Lyons*, 174 Wn.2d at 361. This determination is "based on the circumstances of each case." *Id.* In addition to the passage of time, courts consider "the nature of the crime, the nature of the criminal, the character of the evidence to be seized, *and the nature of the place to be searched.*" *State v. Garbaccio*, 151 Wn.App. 716, 728, 214 P.3d 168 (2009) (emphasis added) (quoting *State v. Smith*, 60 Wn.App. 592, 602, 805 P.2d 256 (1991)).

Evidence that a hotel room contained drugs does not provide probable cause to believe the drugs remained there three days later. Here, the basis for the warrant was the informant's claim that the hotel room had contained drugs "within the last 72 hours." CP 6. The informant did not claim that Mr. Kyllo was present in the hotel room and did not provide a basis to conclude the drugs belonged to him; thus, there is even less support for the idea that Mr. Kyllo would be found in the hotel room 72 hours after the informant's visit.

As one court put it, "a magistrate may not, consistent with common sense, simply presume a suspect's continuing occupancy of a hotel room after 72 hours." *State v. Ward*, 580 N.W.2d 67, 73 (Minn. Ct. App. 1998); *see also State v. Whitley*, 993 P.2d 117, 118 (N.M. Ct. App.

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