FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/22/2020 10:01 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

SUPRME COURT NO. 98269-4 COA No. 51732-9-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

KENNETH KYLLO,

Appellant.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

RYAN JURVAKAINEN
Prosecuting Attorney
SEAN BRITTAIN/WSBA 36804
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Representing Respondent

HALL OF JUSTICE 312 SW FIRST KELSO, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080

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

IV. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) states that a petition for review will only be accepted by the Supreme Court if one of four conditions are met: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant

question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Neither in the petition for review nor in the decision from the Court of Appeals are there any issues that would fall under one of the four conditions as outlined by RAP 13.4(b). The Court of Appeals holding in this case is not in conflict with any decisions of either the Washington Supreme Court or another division of the Court Appeals. The holding also does not raise a significant question of law or involve an issue of substantial public interest.

A. The Petitioner did not receive ineffective assistance of counsel. Therefore, the Court of Appeals' holding is not in conflict with any decisions of the Washington Supreme Court or another decision of the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals held that the Petitioner's trial counsel's decision to request and argue the unwitting possession defense was a legitimate trial tactic. The Petitioner proposed the unrelated instruction; thus, he is barred from claiming error on appeal under the Invited Error Doctrine. *State v. Bradley*, 141 Wn.2d 731, 736, 10 P.3d 358 (2000) (citing *State v. Neher*, 112 Wn.2d 347, 352-53, 771 P.2d 330 (1989)). However, the offering of an incorrect jury instruction can be reviewed by examining if the Petitioner was denied effective assistance of counsel.

Bradley, 141 Wn.2d at 736 (citing State v. Aho, 137 Wn.2d 736, 745-46, 975 P.2d 512 (1999)).

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient and that prejudice resulted from that deficiency. *Strickland v. Washington*, 446 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); *State v. Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225, 743 P.3d 816 (1987). Thus, one claiming ineffective assistance must show that in light of the entire record, no legitimate strategic or tactical reasons support the challenged conduct. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335-36, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). Prejudice is not established unless it can be shown that "there is a reasonable probability that, except for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Id.* at 335. There exists a strong presumption that counsel's representation was reasonable. *State v. Estes*, 188 Wn.2d 450, 458, 395 P.3d 1045 (2017).

The first prong of this two-part test requires the defendant to show "that his . . . lawyer failed to exercise the customary skills and diligence that a reasonably competent attorney would exercise under similar circumstances." *State v. Visitacion*, 55 Wn. App. 166, 173, 776 P.2d 986 (1989) (*citing State v. Sardinia*, 42 Wn. App. 533, 539, 713 P.2d 122, *review denied*, 105 Wn.2d 1013 (1986)). The second prong requires the

defendant to show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for the counsel's errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Visitacion*, 55 Wn. App. at 173.

1. The Petitioner's trial counsel's decision was a legitimate trial strategy.

As the Court of Appeals concluded, the Petitioner's trial counsel's use of the instruction during closing shows that he had a legitimate tactical reason for asking for the instruction. He was able to argue his theory of the case and point to a specific instruction. This tactic did not actually shift the burden of proof. The Petitioner's trial counsel correctly noted that the State was required to prove each and every element of the crimes charges.

The cases relied upon by the Petitioner are distinguishable from the present matter. *State v. Carter*, 127 Wn. App. 713, 112 P.3d 561 (2005) is a firearm case involving constructive possession. The present matter involves controlled substances that the Petitioner was in actual possession. Next, the unwitting possession instructions in *Carter* and *State v. Newton*, 179 Wn. App. 1056 (2014) (unpublished), were incorrect statements of the law. In both of those cases, the juries were incorrectly instructed that the unwitting possession defense directly applied to the actual crimes that were charged. In other words, the jury instructions misstated the law when they stated that unwitting possession is a defense to Unlawful Possession

of a Firearm (*Carter*) or Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Deliver. (*Newton*).

The unwitting possession instruction in the present matter was a correct statement of the law - it is a defense to the crime of Possession of a Controlled Substance. That specific crime was not in front of the jury; therefore, at most, the jury was instructed on a defense for an uncharged crime. The Petitioner's trial counsel's use of an unrelated instruction allowed him to establish his theory of the case and argue that the burden of proof remained with the State.

2. The Petitioner was not prejudiced by the unwitting possession instruction.

Even with the unrelated instruction, the Petitioner was not prejudiced because there is not a reasonable probability that, despite his trial counsel's error, the outcome of the trial would have been different. Although prejudice is presumed when an instruction misstates the law, a defendant is not entitled to a new trial if the error can be declared harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Woods*, 138 Wn.2d 191, 202, 156 P.3d 309 (2007) (citing *State v. Caldwell*, 94 Wn.2d 614, 618, 618 P.2d 508 (1980)). An instructional error is harmless if it "in no way affected the final outcome of the case." *State v. Wanrow*, 88 Wn.2d 221, 237, 559 P.2d 548 (1977). "Juries are presumed to follow the court's

instructions." State v. Kalebaugh, 183 Wn.2d 578, 586, 355 P.3d 253 (2015) (citing State v. Grisby, 97 Wn.2d 493, 499, 647 P.2d 6 (1982)).

The Petitioner was not prejudiced by the instruction. The instruction itself did not reference the crimes that were actually charged; instead, it clearly stated that "A person is not guilty of possession of a controlled substance if the possession is unwitting. Possession of a controlled substance is unwitting if..." CP 21 (emphasis added). As stated above, this makes the present matter factually distinct from the cases relied upon by the Carter and Newton cases. At most, the jury was given an instruction that simply did not apply to the case.

The unrelated instruction was the only portion of the instructions as a whole that referenced the uncharged lesser crime of Possession of a Controlled Substance. The definitional instruction clearly defined the charged crimes as Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Deliver. The two "to-convict" instructions clearly identified the charged crimes as Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Deliver and properly listed out all of the essential elements. The verdict forms, likewise, clearly stated the charged crimes as Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Deliver.

Additionally, the State's burden of proof was not relieved or reduced by any means. As stated above, the Petitioner was able to argue

that his possession was unwitting, thereby asking the jury to reject the State's evidence that he was in actual and/or constructive possession of the drugs. The unwitting possession instruction would have been applicable to the lesser crime of Possession of a Controlled Substance. However, a Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Deliver charge requires the State to prove the additional element of *intent to deliver*. Thus, the State was still required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the Petitioner possessed methamphetamine and heroin, that he possessed those substances with the intent deliver them, and that these acts occurred in Washington.

Since juries are presumed to follow the instructions given to them by the court, we can presume that the jury did not consider the instruction detailing an affirmative defense for an uncharged crime. Nor did the inclusion of this instruction have any effect to negate or diminish the State's burden. Therefore, we can conclude beyond a reasonable that the jury verdicts would have been the same without the error. Thus, despite a presumption of prejudice, the Petitioner was not actually prejudiced by the unrelated instruction.

A. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied the Petitioner's motion to suppress evidence that the search warrant permitted police to search for him and controlled substances. Therefore, there is no significant question of law.

1. Standard of review.

The standard of review when examining the trial court's ruling to exclude or admit evidence at trial is abuse of discretion. *State v. Swan,* 114 Wn.2d 613, 658, 790 P.2d 610 (1990); *Reese v. Stroh,* 128 Wn.2d 300, 310, 907 P.2d (1995). A trial court's decision will be reversed only if no reasonable person would have decided the matter as the trial court did. *State v. Castellanos,* 132 Wn.2d 94, 97, 935 P.2d 1353 (1997). Proper objection must be made at trial to a perceived error in admitting or excluding evidence and failure to do so precludes raising the issue on appeal. *State v. Guloy,* 104 Wn.2d 412, 421 705 P.2d 1182 (1985).

2. The testimony was relevant and its probative value was not outweighed by a risk of prejudice.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the trial court's admission of the evidence was not an abuse of discretion. The testimony at issue was limited to three things: (1) search warrant; (2) drugs, and (3) the Petitioner. The testimony did not detail any facts that established probable cause for the search warrant. Rather, the evidence focused on explaining why the detectives were present at that particular hotel room, on that particular day and time, looking for two specific things.

The Petitioner argues that this testimony permitted the jury to convict on "grounds of official suspicion." The jury convicted the

Petitioner based upon the actual facts of the case - he was seen in possession of a backpack, was seen throwing that backpack out of a window, the backpack contained a large amount of heroin and the Petitioner's money, the room was littered with additional drugs and drug trafficking paraphernalia, and the Petitioner had a pay/owe sheet in his wallet. In other words, the Petitioner was convicted based upon the direct observations of the detectives.

All evidence is prejudicial. This does not automatically require a finding that it outweighs the probative value. The Petitioner has not shown that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting this evidence. The testimony at issue here was introduced to provide the basis for the detectives' presence, something the jury should be entitled to hear.

B. The Court of Appeals' rejection of the Petitioner's challenges to the search warrant are not in conflict with other decisions and does not raise a significant constitutional question.

1. The Search Warrant Was Not Stale.

An affidavit or search warrant can be stale, and thus lack probable cause to search and seize evidence, in two ways: (1) "the passage of time is so prolonged" between an officer's or informant's observations of criminal activity and the presentation of the affidavit to the magistrate "that it is no longer probable that a search will reveal criminal activity"; or (2) a delay in the execution of the search warrant "may render the

magistrate's probable cause determination stale." *State v. Lyons*, 174 Wn.2d 354, 275 P.3d 314 (2012).

[c]ommon sense is the test for staleness of information in a search warrant affidavit . . . [t]he information is not stale for purposes of probable cause if the facts and circumstances in the affidavit support a commonsense determination that there is continuing and contemporaneous possession of the property intended to be seized.

State v. Maddox, 152 Wn.2d 499, 506, 98 P.3d 1199 (2004).

In order to make a commonsense determination as to whether the information is stale, the magistrate shall look at the totality of the circumstances to include "the nature of the criminal activity, the length of the activity, and the nature of the property to be seized." *Maddox*, 152 Wn.2d at 506; *Lyons*, 174 Wn.2d at 361 ("Among the factors for assessing staleness are the time between the known criminal activity and the nature and scope of the suspected activity."). Consequently, "[t]he amount of time between the known criminal activity and the issuance of the warrant is only one factor and should be considered along with all the other circumstances. . . ." *State v. Petty*, 48 Wn. App. 615, 621, 740 P.2d 879 (1987); *State v. Hall*, 53 Wn. App. 296, 300, 766 P.2d 512 (1989) ("The

tabulation of the number of days is not the deciding factor; rather, it is only one circumstance to be considered with all the others. . . . ").

Evaluating the entire affidavit and making commonsense inferences from the information contained therein is important because, "[a]n affidavit lacking the timing of the necessary observations might still be sufficient if the magistrate can infer recency from other facts and circumstances in the affidavit." *Lyons*, 174 Wn.2d at 361-62. Moreover, "even information which is stale standing alone may still provide probable cause if it is confirmed by other more recent information." *Petty*, 48 Wn. App. at 622.

Here, in making commonsense inferences from the information provided in the search warrant affidavit, it was still probable that evidence of criminal activity would be found within the hotel room at the time the search warrant was executed. The gap in time between the last reported criminal activity in the affidavit and when the search warrant was executed is minimal considering the criminal activity and the nature of the of the evidence sought. The warrant was issued on April 19. The probable cause for the warrant was based upon information Det. Thoma obtained from the informant on April 19. The informant told Det. Thoma that within 72 hours, he/she had observed approximately eight ounces, or one-

half pound, of heroin inside the hotel room. The search warrant was executed on April 19. The information was not stale.

2. The search warrant was supported by probable cause.

Article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution requires that the issuance of a search warrant be based upon of a determination of probable cause. State v. Vickers, 148 Wn.2d 91, 108, 59 P.3d 58 (2002); CrR 2.3(c). "Probable cause is established when an affidavit supporting a search warrant provides sufficient facts for a reasonable person to conclude there is a probability the defendant is involved in the criminal activity." Vickers, 148 Wn.2d at 108; State v. Clay, 7 Wn. App. 631, 637, 501 P.2d 603 (1972). Whether probable cause is established is a legal conclusion that is subject to de novo review. State v. Chamberlin, 161 Wn.2d 30, 40, 162 P.3d 389 (2007). Great deference is given to the magistrate's determination of probable cause, and will only be disturbed if its decision to issue a warrant was based upon an abuse of discretion. Vickers, 148 Wn.2d at 108. "The [issuing judge] is entitled to make reasonable inferences from the facts and circumstances set out in the affidavit." State v. Emery, 161 Wn. App. 172, 202, 253 P.3d 413 (2011). "Doubts concerning the existence of probable cause are generally resolved in favor of issuing the search warrant." Vickers, 148 Wn.2d at 108-09.

For an informant's tip (as detailed in an affidavit) to create probable cause for a search warrant to issue: (1) the officer's affidavit must set forth some of the underlying circumstances from which the informant drew his conclusion so that a magistrate can independently evaluate the reliability of the manner in which the informant acquired his information; and (2) the affidavit must set forth some of the underlying circumstances form which the officer concluded that the informant was credible or his information was credible.

State v. Jackson, 102 Wn.2d 432, 435, 688 P.2d 136 (1984) (citing Aguilar v. Texas, 378 U.S. 108, 114, 84 S.Ct. 1509, 1514, 12 L.Ed.2d 723 (1964) and Spinelli v. United States, 393 U.S. 410, 413, 89 S.Ct. 584, 587, 21 L.Ed.2d 637 (1969)). In other words, the warrant affidavit "must demonstrate the informant's (1) 'basis of knowledge' and (2) 'veracity.'" State v. Taylor, 74 Wn. App. 111, 116 872 P.2d 53 (1994) (quoting Jackson, 102 Wn.2d at 437).

The 'basis of knowledge' prong requires that the informant have personal knowledge of the facts asserted to establish probable cause."

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